STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a direct appeal from a Judgment filed on December 13, 2007. (Appellant's Appendix [AA] 909-911). The State filed an indictment charging Terrence Bowser with the following criminal counts: I: Conspiracy to Commit Murder; II: Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon; III: Conspiracy to Discharge a Firearm out of a Motor Vehicle; IV: Discharge of a Firearm out of a Motor Vehicle; V: Conspiracy to Discharge a Firearm at or Into a Vehicle; and VI: Discharge of a Firearm at or into a Vehicle. (AA 001-004). Terrence appeared and entered a plea of not guilty on May 9, 2005. (AA 915). The State filed a Notice of Intent to Seek the Death Penalty on May 26, 2005, based on the single aggravating circumstance that the crime was committed at random and without motive under NRS 200.033 (9). (AA 168). On February 22, 2006, Terrence filed a motion to suppress his confession. (AA 252). The Court denied Terrence's Motion to Suppress. (AA 933). The Court also denied Terrence's Motion to Strike the State's Notice of Intent to Seek the Death Penalty. (AA 933). On October 3, 2007, the State filed a Second Amended Indictment amending the language regarding vicarious liability of coconspirators. (AA 1172).

Trial commenced on October 3, 2007, and the jury convicted Terrence of Count II, First-Degree Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon, and all other counts, on October 11, 2007. (AA 904-05, 944, 950). The penalty phase commenced on October 12, 2007, and jurors returned verdicts on October 16, 2007, of life with eligibility for parole after forty years on Count II. (AA 953). The State filed the Judgment of Conviction on December 13, 2007. (AA 909). Terrence filed a timely Notice of Appeal on January 2, 2008. (AA 912).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Terrence's Troubled Early Years

Terrence was the second child of single mother Ida Bowser and Howard Sanders. Sanders was a crack addict who was in and out of Terrence's life while he was a boy. (AA 2435). At the age of four, doctors diagnosed Terrence with cognitive delays, language delays, and developmental articulation disorder. (AA 2437). Terrence's grandmother took care of Terrence while Ida worked, but his grandmother neglected him and ignored him. (AA 2435-36).

Terrence always lived in high-crime, economically depressed areas of Las Vegas. (AA 2429). Terrence's father was shot to death when Terrence was eight years old. (AA 2438). After this event, Terrence became depressed, disengaged, and angry. (AA 2438). Terrence was relentlessly teased because he had a stutter, and was suicidal as early as the fourth grade. (AA 2439). Although well-meaning, Ida had her own emotional problems, and was ill-equipped to deal with

Terrence's emotional and psychological deterioration. When told about Terrence's fourth-grade suicidal ideation, Ida denied the problem and assured his teacher that he was fine. (AA 2439).

In fifth grade, Terrence drank a bottle of bleach in an attempt to take his own life. (AA 2440). He later tried to hang himself. (AA 2441). He tried to shoot himself in sixth grade. (AA 2442). Terrence was diagnosed as hyperactive and depressed, and placed on anti-anxiety and antidepressant medications. (AA 2441). School District testing revealed he had a below-average IQ of 83. (AA 2442). By eighth grade, Terrence was smoking marijuana, drinking alcohol, and becoming increasingly withdrawn and anti-social. Terrence was often plagued by night terrors, headaches, and depression, with mixed results from medications and therapy. (AA 2441-2443).

Terrence's Adolescence and Early Adulthood

Terrence stole a pair of gym shoes out of a locker at school when he was a freshman in high school, and was expelled. (AA 2444). He attended two other high schools, continued to do drugs, and was arrested for possessing a stolen vehicle during his junior year. (AA 2445). While he was on probation, Ida turned him in to his probation officer for smoking marijuana. (AA 2445). In addition to completing Job Corps and getting his GED, Terrence successfully finished drug treatment and completed his probation. (AA 2446-2447). He got a job as a skilled construction worker, but continued to drink heavily on a daily basis, and soon returned to smoking marijuana. (AA 24547). Terrence had part of a finger amputated due to a work injury and could not work for several months. (AA 2448). After returning to work, he continued to drink excessively and smoke marijuana in addition to his dependence on prescription painkillers and anti-anxiety medication. (AA 2448).

The Events of January 31, 2005

Jamar Green was one of Terrence's best friends since childhood. (AA 280). Jamar worked for the CAT bus system. (AA 282). On January 31, 2005, Terrence went to the store to pick up lunch for work the next day, and returned a call from Jamar. (AA 285). Terrence drank a bottle of hard alcohol and went to Jamar's house. (AA 286-87). The two decided to cruise around the neighborhood in Terrence's mother's car, a Lincoln sedan. Jamar brought his shotgun because he lived in a dangerous neighborhood and always carried it for self-defense. (AA 288). Terrence did not normally carry a gun and did not have one in the car that night. (AA 288). However, Terrence knew Jamar had a gun and brought shells to share with Jamar. The box of shells remained unopened. (AA 291). The two discussed what it would feel like to shoot at a car. (AA 2152).

John McCoy worked at the Rainbow Club in Henderson as an assistant casino manager. (AA 1908). He would take street routes in addition to the freeway to drive home to the northwest side. (AA 1908-09). John worked swing shifts and would return home between 11:30 p.m. and 12:30 a.m. (AA 1910).

Near Lone Mountain and Jones, Terrence and Jamar drove up next to John McCoy. Terrence does not know at what exact point Jamar fired his shotgun. (AA 299). Terrence was focused on driving and didn't see where Jamar was aiming, but believed Jamar meant only to shoot at the car next to them. (AA 300-01). Jamar didn't tell Terrence that he was going to fire at John's car. Jamar didn't say anything prior to shooting. Jamar picked up the gun and fired. (AA 333).

Just before midnight, North Las Vegas police officer David Smith was flagged down by local resident Forrest Hawman, who had just heard a gunshot near his house. (AA 1975). Smith saw a silver car coming toward him with no headlights on. (AA 1975). Smith turned around and initiated a traffic stop with lights and sirens. (AA 1977). Upon seeing the police car, Terrence panicked and sped away. (AA 336-338). Smith followed the Lincoln into a cul-de-sac on Captain Kirk drive, where the car pulled into a driveway of a house and stopped. (AA 1979). The car backed out of the driveway and stopped in the middle of the cul-de-sac at Smith's command. (AA 1979). Jamar threw the gun out the car window. Jamar and Terrence got out of the vehicle and were handcuffed by officers. (AA 338; 1984-86). Officers found a shotgun near the passenger side of the Lincoln in the cul-de-sac. (AA 1992).

When police officers arrived at the crash scene at Lone Mountain, John's car had hit the wall and rolled back downhill. (AA 1877). John was slumped in the driver's seat panting for breath. (AA 1870). The driver's window was gone. (AA 1874). Officer Cox found a handgun on the passenger side floor of John's car. (AA 1875). John usually carried his gun in the glove compartment or briefcase. (AA 1909). His partially unzipped briefcase was also on the floor. (AA 1878). The force of the impact would have been enough to move around the items in the car, so officers did not know the original location of John's gun. (AA 1878). John died of a penetrating gunshot wound to the left flank. (AA 1899). The coroner opined that only one shot was fired (AA 1903), and that some of John's injuries would have been sustained in the car crash. (AA 1905). The coroner found methamphetamine in John's system. (AA 1897).

Officer Sullivan admitted that Terrence said at the time of his arrest, "I'm going to make you work for it. I'll see what my attorney can do for me" when read his rights at the scene. (AA 2789). Sullivan ceased questioning at that time. (AA 2789). Metro homicide detective Wilson admitted he knew Terrence had invoked his Fifth Amendment rights, but decided to question

Terrence after reading his rights a second time. (AA 2798). Terrence admitted that his actions that night were stupid, and expressed hope that John was all right. Officers did not tell Terrence of John's condition during the interview. (AA 347). Ultimately, Terrence told Dr. Paglini that if he could trade his life for John's, he would. (AA 2464).

Summary of Trial Testimony

Off-duty Probation Officer Maurice Hernandez testified regarding his arrival at the accident scene and 911 call. (AA 1863-1864). Metro Officer Donald Cox testified regarding his arrival at the accident scene and conversation with John McCoy. (AA 1869). Dr. Telgenhoff testified regarding his autopsy. (AA 1882). Dawn McCoy testified regarding her husband's work and travel habits. (AA 1908-09). CSA Daniel Ford testified regarding his collection of evidence. (AA 1944). North Las Vegas police officer David Smith testified regarding his investigation of gunshot sounds heard by Forrest Hawman. (AA 1972). North Las Vegas officer Luthiger responded as Smith's backup and testified about taking Terrence into custody. (AA 1997).

Officer Sullivan testified regarding his investigation at the scene and interview with Terrence. (AA 2004). CSA Renhard testified regarding her collection of evidence. (AA 2039). Maria Dominguez testified regarding hearing the gunshots on the might of January 31, 2005, and a subsequent car crash. (AA 2080). Forrest Hawman testified regarding hearing gunshots that night and calling 911. (AA 2097). Metro analyst Ed Guenther testified regarding the fingerprint evidence. (AA 2103). Metro firearms analyst James Krylo testified regarding his analysis of the gun evidence. (AA 2111). Metro Detective Rob Wilson testified regarding his investigation and interview with Terrence. (AA 2125).

LEGAL ARGUMENT

I. The trial Court violated appellant's federal and state constitutional rights by admitting his statements to police where appellant had previously invoked his rights, where a waiver was not freely and voluntarily given, and where State witnesses commented on appellant's initial post-arrest silence.

Terrence Invoked His Right to Counsel and His Right to Silence

On August 14, 2006, the Court heard Terrence's Motion to Suppress and held an evidentiary hearing. (AA 2777). Officer Sullivan admitted that Terrence said at the time of his arrest, "I'm going to make you work for it. I'll see what my attorney can do for me" when read his Miranda rights at the scene. (AA 2789). Sullivan ceased questioning at that time. (AA 2789).

Metro Detective Wilson admitted that other detectives told him Terrence had invoked his rights to counsel and silence with the police officers who arrested him. (AA 2798). Seven hours had elapsed between the arrest and Wilson's interview. (AA 2814). Although he knew Terrence had already invoked his Fifth Amendment rights, Wilson admitted he "wanted to see if [Terrence] was willing to give us a statement as to what had happened." (AA 2800). This situation violated Terrence's federal and state constitutional rights.

First, Terrence unequivocally invoked his right to counsel by stating, "I'm going to make you work for it. I'll see what my attorney can do for me" in response to being read his Miranda rights. (AA 2789). This Court recently noted that the right to counsel must be invoked with sufficient explicitness to "be reasonably construed" as a request for counsel: "A request for counsel must be, at minimum, 'some statement that can reasonably be construed to be an expression of a desire for the assistance of an attorney.' The right to counsel 'must be affirmatively invoked by the suspect' and requires more than an expression of one's desire to remain silent." **Dewey v. State**, 169 P.3d 1149, 1152 (Nev. 2007) (internal citations omitted). Terrence did more than merely express his desire to remain silent. He specifically referenced an attorney, and explicitly stated his desire to see what an attorney could do for him, distinguishing **Dewey**. The Supreme Court forbids further interrogation in the absence of counsel unless the defendant initiates the subsequent communication. **Edwards v. Arizona**, 451 U.S. 477 (1981).

This Court should deem Terrence's comments sufficient to invoke the right to counsel: "You guys got me. I'm going to make you work for it. I'll see what my attorney can do for me." (AA 2789). In a case with an almost identical invocation of the right to counsel, the Montana Supreme Court found the trial court had violated the defendant's constitutional rights by refusing to suppress his initial confession: "Furthermore, based on our determination that the statement was a product of interrogation after Flack asserted his right to counsel, we conclude that the District Court's denial of Flack's motion to suppress violated Flack's constitutional right to the assistance of counsel under Miranda, 384 U.S. at 474, 86 S. Ct. at 1627. We hold that the District Court erred in denying Flack's motion to suppress the January 5 statement." State v. Flack, 260 Mont. 181, 187 (1993) (emphasis added).

Flack's invocation mirrored Terrence's invocation: "[a]fter fifty-five minutes of questioning, Johnson arrested Flack for the robbery pursuant to a valid arrest warrant. At that time, Flack stated, "I guess I'm going to have to get me a lawyer. You guys are going to have to prove it."

Flack, 260 Mont. at 183 (emphasis added). Echoing Flack's invocation, Terrence said, "I'm going to make you work for it. I'll see what my attorney can do for me." (AA 2789). Because

these comments parallel the comments in <u>Flack</u>, the District Court erred in refusing to deem them an adequate invocation of the right to counsel, particularly where Flack's invocation was more ambiguous than Terrence's through the use of the future tense and the phrase, "I guess."

Although the Montana Supreme Court admitted the second confession made by Flack, the Court relied upon the fact that Flack had initiated the subsequent interview. In contrast, Terrence did not initiate the subsequent communication with Wilson; rather, Wilson decided to see if he could get Terrence to talk. (AA 2802). The fact that Terrence made incriminating statements under police interrogation after his initial invocation of the right to counsel should not undermine his invocation: "Using an accused's subsequent responses to cast doubt on the adequacy of the initial request itself is even more intolerable. 'No authority, and no logic, permits the interrogator to proceed... on his own terms and as if the defendant had requested nothing, in the hope that the defendant might be induced to say something casting retrospective doubt on his initial statement that he wished to speak through an attorney or not at all." Smith v. Illinois, 469 U.S. 91, 98-99 (U.S. 1984) (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added). This is precisely what happened to Terrence: Sullivan ceased questioning because Terrence invoked his Fifth Amendment rights, but Wilson decided to ignore Terrence's invocation of the right to counsel and proceeded as though Terrence had never invoked this right.

Terrence's words constituted an unambiguous and unequivocal request for counsel: "I'll see what my attorney can do for me." (AA 2789). Courts have found less definite phrases adequate under the Fifth Amendment. In <u>United States v. de la Jara</u>, 973 F.2d 746, 750 (9th Cir. 1992), the defendant said, "Can I call my lawyer?" or "I should call my lawyer," and the Ninth Circuit found an invocation of the right to counsel. In <u>Cannady v. Dugger</u>, 931 F.2d 752, 755 (11th Cir. 1991), the defendant said, "I think I should call my lawyer," a phrase more ambiguous than Terrence's words, but the Court found an invocation of the right to counsel. In <u>Robinson v. Borg</u>, 918 F.2d 1387, 1393 (9th Cir. 1990), the defendant said, "I have to get me a good lawyer, man. Can I make a phone call?" and the Court found an invocation of the right to counsel. In <u>Smith v. Endell</u>, 860 F.2d 1528, 1529-31 (9th Cir. 1988), the defendant asked, "Can I talk to a lawyer?" and the Court found an invocation of the right to counsel. In <u>United States v. Hughes</u>, 921 F. Supp. 656, 657-58 (D. Ariz. 1996), the defendant asked, "Can I call a lawyer?" and the Court found an invocation of the right to counsel. In <u>Shedelbower v. Estelle</u>, 885 F.2d 570, 571, 573 (9th Cir. 1989), cert. denied, 111 S. Ct. 975 (1991), the defendant said, "I think I should call

an attorney," a phrase more ambiguous than Terrence's comments, and the Court found an unequivocal request for counsel.¹

Finally, this Court should distinguish the case relied upon by the trial Court in denying suppression because in Kaczmarek v. State, the defendant's Sixth Amendment right to counsel had not yet attached, and the defendant had exclusively invoked his right to counsel in an unrelated case: "[a]ccordingly, when detectives interviewed Kaczmarek, the Sixth Amendment right had not yet attached in this case and did not prohibit the State from using Kaczmarek's statement at trial." Kaczmarek v. State, 120 Nev. 314, 327 (2004). Further, this Court should distinguish Kaczmarek v. State, 120 Nev. 314, 327 (2004). Further, this Court should distinguish Kaczmarek on its facts: "[t]he record here shows that Kaczmarek was thirty-two years old and experienced in the criminal justice system. Further, he received verbal Miranda warnings prior to his reference to counsel. This reference was so ambiguous that reasonable officers in the circumstances of Detective Wilson and his partner would have only understood that Kaczmarek 'might be invoking the right to counsel." Kaczmarek, 120 Nev. at 331.

In contrast, Terrence was nineteen years old and inexperienced in the adult criminal justice system. Although he had received Miranda warnings, his reference to an attorney was far less ambiguous than Kaczmarek's: "'He said that he wanted to talk to us. He said his attorney was coming this afternoon and wondered if we can talk to him then.'" Kaczmarek, 120 Nev. at 330. Unlike Kaczmarek, Terrence's initial invocation did not include the mixed message that he "wanted" to talk to officers but "wondered" if they could speak with him later. Unlike Kaczmarek, Terrence was not referencing an attorney retained on a different charge, but invoked his Fifth Amendment rights on the very case detectives wanted to question him about. Further, this Court found that any Fifth Amendment violation in Kaczmarek would have been rendered harmless due to the statement's consistency with the defendant's trial testimony. That Terrence did not testify renders the logic in Kaczmarek inapplicable and warrants distinction with the instant case. For these reasons, this Court should reject the trial Court's reliance on Kaczmarek.

Officers Failed to Honor Terrence's Invocation of His Right to Silence

The general rule is that after a defendant has invoked his right to remain silent, he cannot be questioned. Michigan v. Mosley, 423 U.S. 96, 104-05 (1975). In Edwards v. Arizona 451 U.S. 477 (1981), the U.S. Supreme Court recognized that the invocation of the right to counsel requires the cessation of interrogation. The Court subsequently affirmed the silence/counsel

¹ In contrast, in Norman v. Ducharme, 871 F.2d 1483 (9th Cir. 1989), cert. denied, 494 U.S. 1031 and 494 U.S. 1061, (1990), the Court held that when the defendant asked a police officer "whether he should get an attorney," the question "did not rise to the level of an unequivocal request for counsel." *Id.* at 1484, 1486.

dichotomy and made clear that <u>Mosley</u> still stands. <u>Arizona v. Roberson</u>, 486 U.S. 675 (1988). Thus, even if this Court upholds the trial Court's decision that Terrence's invocation of the right to counsel was not explicit enough, once Terrence also invoked his right to silence, Detective Wilson's initiation of re-questioning still violated Terrence's Fifth Amendment rights:

For example, if a suspect requests counsel following Miranda warnings, all questioning must cease and the police may not question the suspect again without an attorney present unless the suspect herself initiates further communication or conversation. If on the other hand the suspect only asserts her right to remain silent, then the police may subsequently initiate a new round of interrogation, provided that they "'scrupulously honored'" the suspect's initial exercise of her "'right to cut off questioning'" and again fully advise the suspect of her Miranda rights before resuming any further questioning.

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