ORIGINAL

RECEIVED
CLERK OF SUPREME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

2009 APR -3 PM 2:49

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

TERRENCE KARYIAN BOWSER,
Appellant,
v.
THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Respondent.

FILED

Case No. 50851 APR 16 2009

TRACIE K. LINDEMAN
CLERK OF SUPREME COURT
BY J. Alvarado
DEPUTY CLERK

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

**Appeal From Judgment of Conviction
Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County**

AUDREY M. CONWAY
Deputy Public Defender
Nevada Bar #005611
309 South Third Street, Ste. 226
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155
(702) 455-4685

DAVID ROGER
Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #002781
Regional Justice Center

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

17 In making his argument, Defendant notes that the Court reversed redundant
18 convictions in Salazar, *supra*. However, the instant case can be distinguished. In
19 Salazar, the defendant was convicted of Battery with Use of a Deadly Weapon with
20 Substantial Bodily Harm and Mayhem with a Deadly Weapon. The Court concluded
21 that the gravamen of the Battery offense was that the defendant cut the victim which
22 resulted in permanent nerve damage and the gravamen of the mayhem offense was
23 that defendant cut the victim and it resulted in permanent nerve damage. Therefore,
24 the convictions were redundant. Salazar, 119 Nev. 224, 228 70 P.3d 749, 751 (2003).

25 “[R]edundancy does not, of necessity, arise when a defendant is convicted of
26 numerous charges arising from a single act.” Skiba v. State, 114 Nev. 612, 616 n. 4,
27 959 P.2d 959, 961 n. 4 (1998). The question is whether the material or significant part
28 of each charge is the same even if the offenses are not the same. State of Nevada v.

1 Eighth Judicial Dist. Court of State of Nevada, ex rel. County of Clark, 116 Nev. 127,
2 136, 994 P.2d 692 (2002).

3 In the instant case, Defendant was charged with, among other thing, NRS
4 202.297 (Discharging Firearm Within or From Structure of Vehicle) and NRS
5 202.285 (Discharging Firearm at or into Structure, Vehicle, Aircraft or Watercraft).
6 Defendant raised this same double jeopardy argument via a Motion to Strike Counts
7 Five and Six of the Indictment on March 7, 2007 which was denied by the District
8 Court on September 5, 2007. AA, Vol. II, pp. 444-449. Defendant now alleges that the
9 district court improperly denied the motion.

10 Applying the redundant conviction analysis, one can see that the gravamen of
11 the offenses charged is not the same. NRS 202.287 addresses shooting within or from
12 a vehicle while NRS 202.285 addresses shooting into a vehicle. Someone can shoot
13 from a car and not shoot into a car. Moreover, someone can shoot into a car without
14 shooting from a car. The legislature made it clear that it intended on punishing both
15 as separate and distinct crimes because it passed two separate and distinct statutes.
16 This is clear by the fact that when NRS 202.287 was passed it was not made a part of
17 NRS 202.285. On the contrary, a separate and distinct law was needed to address the
18 distinct crime. The separate and distinct nature of the charges is established not only
19 by the different elements but also by the different punishments provided for by the
20 Legislature. NRS 202.285 is punishable by a B felony with 1 to 6 years in prison
21 while NRS 202.287 is punishable by a B felony with 2 to 15 years in prison. These
22 statutes are separate and distinct and can be committed without committing the other.

23 As demonstrated above, the material or significant part of each charge is not the
24 same, therefore, the gravamen of the charged offenses is not the same, and the
25 convictions for each of the offenses was not impermissibly redundant. See Skiba, 114
26 Nev. 612, 616 n. 4, 959 P.2d 959, 961 n. 4 (1998). As such, the district court properly
27 denied Defendant Motion to Strike Courts Five and Six of the Indictment.

28

V.

THE COURT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY

Erroneous jury instructions are reviewable according to a harmless error analysis. Wegner v. State, 116 Nev. 1149, 1155, 14 P.3d 25, 30 (2000) (citing Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 13-15, 119 S.Ct. 1827 (1999)); Collman v. State, 116 Nev. 687, 720, 7 P.3d 426, 447 (2000). In fact, the giving of this particular instruction is subject to a harmless error analysis. Wegner, 14 P.3d at 30; Collman, 7 P.3d at 447. An error is harmless when it is “clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error.” Wegner, 14 P.3d at 30; Neder, 527 U.S. at 18. Finally, this Court has held on numerous occasions that errors may be harmless when the “evidence of guilt is overwhelming.” See, e.g., McIntosh v. State, 113 Nev.224, 227, 932 P.2d 1072, 1074 (1997); Kelly v. State, 108 Nev. 545, 552, 837 P.2d 416, 420 (1992).

1. Jury Instruction 17 was proper

Defendant alleges that Jury Instruction 17 is improper due to it relieving the government of its burden of proof. AOB, pp. 25-26. Specifically, Defendant states that the instruction “suggested that jurors had discretion to consider a first degree verdict in the absence of proof beyond a reasonable doubt.” AOB, pp. 26. First of all, Instruction 17 was proffered by the defense, not the State, and had specifically been altered at the defense request to say “some of you” instead of the State’s initially proposed instruction which said “all of you.” AA, Vol. VII, p. 2194. This change was allowed. Only when the defense sought yet another modification of the instruction to read “any one of you” did the prosecution and the court decline. Id.; AA, Vol. IV, p. 825.

Second, the defense proposed instruction was an inaccurate statement of law because it removed the possibility of a hung jury and seemed to require a compromise on Second Degree Murder whenever a lone juror demanded it. AA, Vol. VII, p. 2195. This would have conflicted with other instructions requiring unanimity:

1 Your verdict must be unanimous as to each charge. You do not
2 have to be unanimous of the principle of criminal liability. It is
3 sufficient that each of you find beyond a reasonable doubt that the
defendant commit the charged crime. AA, Vol. IV, pp. 869.

4 Expressing preference for Instruction 17 over that offered by the defense the court
5 reasoned that, "This gives them the alternative to find them guilty of first or second, if
6 they can all agree to it." AA, Vol. VII, p. 2195.

7 Because the jury was instructed on unanimity and Instruction 17 was simply a
8 transition instruction between First and Second Degree Murder, there was no
9 prejudice in failing to give the defense proffered instruction which may have confused
10 the jury.

11 **2. Jury Instruction 15 was an accurate statement of the law.**

12 Jury Instruction 15 states the following:

13 The intention to kill may be ascertained or deduced from the facts
14 and circumstances of the killing, such as the use of a weapon
15 calculated to produce death, the manner of its use, and the
16 attendant circumstances characterizing the act. AA, Vol. IV, pp.
843.

17 The above instruction was taken verbatim from the Nevada Supreme Court case
18 Moser v. State, 91 Nev. 809, 544 P.2d 424 (1975) and is still good law. The court held
19 that it did not misstate the law because intent may always be deduced from direct and
20 circumstantial evidence, nor was it cumulative. AA, Vol. VII, 2192. Therefore,
21 Defendant's claim is without merit.

22 **3. Jury Instruction 21 was proper**

23 Jury Instruction 21 states as follows:

24 In order to "use" a deadly weapon, there need not be conduct
25 which actually produces harm but only conduct which produces a
26 fear of harm or force by means or display of the deadly weapon in
aiding the commission of the crime. AA, Vol. IV, pp. 849

27 Here, Defendant argues that the instruction is improper since it does not state
28 that the State must prove that the Defendant had knowledge of the use of the deadly

1 weapon pursuant to Brooks v. State, 180 P.3d 657, 662 (2008). However, Defendant
2 did not object to Instruction 21 below, nor did Defendant proffer or request any
3 additional instructions on a non-shooter's liability for a co-defendant's use of a deadly
4 weapon.

5 In addition to Instruction 21, Instructions 32 and 33 also informed the jury on
6 the requisite specific intent for accomplice liability (aider and abettor and conspiracy)
7 for not just the substantive crime but also the use of a deadly weapon. AA, Vol. IV, p.
8 860-61.

9 In Brooks, the Defendant Brooks was a getaway driver and alleges that he did
10 not know that his co-defendant was armed when it left to rob the victim. Here, the
11 facts are extremely different. The plan and agreement of both defendants was that they
12 see what it was like to shoot someone in another car. The evidence clearly
13 demonstrates that the Defendant knew that Green had a shotgun unlike in Brooks
14 where the evidence suggested that Brooks might not have had knowledge of his co-
15 defendant's use of the gun. Id. at 661. Therefore, any error in instructions was
16 harmless.

17 **4. Jury Instruction 13 and 14 were proper**

18 Defendant alleges that Jury Instruction 13 and 14 improperly emphasize the
19 "instantaneous" nature of premeditation.

20 The language in Jury Instruction 13 that Defendant takes issue with is the
21 following:

22 [p]remeditation need not be for a day, an hour or even a minute. It
23 may be as instantaneous as successive thoughts of the mind. For if
24 the jury believes from the evidence that the act constituting the
25 killing has been preceded by and has been the result of
26 premeditation, no matter how rapidly the premeditation, it is
27 premeditated. AA, Vol. IV, pp. 841.

28 Such wording has been taken verbatim and has routinely been upheld by the
Nevada Supreme Court as being a correct statement of the law. See Byford v. State,

1 116 Nev. 215, 994 P.2d 700 (2000). See also Schoels v. State, 114 Nev. 981, 966 P.2d
2 735 (1998).

3 The language in Jury Instruction 14 states the following:

4 The true test is not the duration of time, but rather the extent of
5 the reflection. A cold, calculated judgment and decision may be
6 arrived at in a short period of time, but a mere unconsidered and
7 rash impulse, even though it includes an intent to kill, is not
8 deliberation and premeditation as will fix and unlawful killing as
9 murder of the first degree. AA, Vol. IV, pp. 842.

10 Again, such wording has been taken verbatim and has routinely been upheld by
11 the Nevada Supreme Court as being a correct statement of the law. See Thomas v.
12 State, 122 Nev. 1361, 148 P.3d 727 (2006). See also Byford v. State, 116 Nev. 215,
13 994 P.2d 700 (2000). Therefore, Defendant's claim that Jury Instructions 13 and 14
14 were improper fails.

13 VI

14 **THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING DEFENSE CHALLENGES FOR 15 CAUSE AND LIMITING DEFENSE COUNSEL'S VOIR DIRE**

15 **1. The Court properly denied challenges for cause**

16 The correct standard for determining when a prospective juror should be excused
17 for cause because of his or her views on the death penalty is whether the juror's ability
18 to perform his or her duties in accordance with the instructions would be substantially
19 impaired because of those views. Weber v. State, 121 Nev. 554, 580, 119 P.3d, 107,
20 125 (2005).

21 Here, Defendant takes issue with the fact that Juror Jiran indicated several
22 times that he believed in "an eye for an eye" and that he believed the death penalty
23 would protect the community from killers. AA, Vol. V, pp. 1151-1152. However,
24 during voir dire, Jiran was asked in the following:

25 The Court:

26 So, now, sir, could you really consider life in prison with the
27 possibility of parole after 40 years for a person who has been
28 convicted of first degree murder? I mean, that's the bottom line is,
you are going to have these four options, actually

Juror:

1 Yeah.

2 The Court:

3 Actually, 100 years in prison with the possibly of parole after a
4 minimum of 40 years and life in prison with the possibly of parole
5 after 40 years. That's pretty much close to the same thing.

6 Juror:

7 Yes. Yes.

8 ...

9 The Court:

10 And sir, can you follow the Court's instructions on the law?

11 Juror:

12 Yes.

13 The Court:

14 Now, you understand just because the defendant has been charge
15 with a crime, that is not evidence of his guilt.

16 Do you understand that?

17 Juror:

18 Yes.

19 ..."

20 The Court:

21 If the State did not prove him guilty beyond a reasonable doubt,
22 would you have any problems in finding him not guilty

23 Juror:

24 I would not have a problem.

25 ...

26 The Court:

27 Can you be fair to both sides in this case?

28 Juror:

 Yes, sir. AA, Vol V, pp. 1551-1557.

21 As demonstrated above, prospective juror Jiran was extensively questioned on
22 her thoughts and as to any biases she had regarding the death penalty. After given
23 what she had to say, the Court properly denied the cause challenge.

24 As to Juror Balalio, Defendant argues that she was improperly survived a cause
25 challenge after indicating on her questionnaire that she felt a murderer "should go to
26 death" or receive the death penalty and that she answered, "Probably Not" when asked
27

1 by defense counsel if she could be fair in light of her worries about the financial
2 impact of the trial on her family.

3 Juror Balalio was also asked numerous questions which included the following:

4 Ms. Jimenez:

5 Would you automatically vote for the death penalty just because
6 it's a murder case?

7 Juror:

8 No, not necessarily. I would hear everything that the case – the
9 evidence and everything that goes into the case. I would listen to
10 that, but the majority of the time it kind of ends up to be – you
11 know, what they need to have is what they did wrong. They need
12 to be penalized for that.

13 Ms. Jimenez:

14 Okay.

15 You feel like you would wait before you heard all the evidence
16 before making a decision?

17 Juror:

18 Yes.

19 Ms. Jimenez:

20 And you could consider all four of those penalties in coming to
21 that decision?

22 Juror:

23 Correct. AA, Vol. V, pp. 1207-1208.

24 In response to the juror's "probably not" response when asked by defense
25 counsel if she could be fair in light of her worries about the financial impact of the
26 trial on her family, the State and the Court further inquired into the situation as shown
27 below.

28 The Court:

Ma'am, the defendant is entitled to 100 percent of your attention.
This is a serious case here. On the one hand, you said you would
be preoccupied with your family and your home life and your
work to where you couldn't pay attention. You told that to
Defense Counsel, then you tell her that you could be fair even
though you have all these pressures from work and maybe not
getting paid and whatever to where you might be distracted to you
couldn't – you might not be a hundred percent fair.

So, which one is it?

Juror:

1 If I were to have to be on the case, I would have to make that fair
2 judgment.

3 The Court:

4 You would be fair if you were on the case?

5 Juror:

6 Yes. AA, Vol. V, pp. 1214-1215.

7 As demonstrated above, Juror Balalio repeatedly assured the Court that she
8 could be impartial and fair. As such, the Court properly denied the cause challenge.
9 Furthermore, both jurors were ultimately removed by peremptory challenged and
10 Defendant has failed to show that any biased juror was actually seated.

11 **2. The Court properly restricted defense voir dire**

12 Defendant alleges that the Court improperly precluded defense counsel from
13 questioning a juror about whether she could assert her individual opinion regarding
14 whether the State has proven the aggravating factor and whether mitigating factors
15 outweighed the aggravator. AOB, pp. 29-30.

16 When this line of question came about, the following exchange took place:

17 Mr. Pesci:

18 It's the State's burden to prove the aggravators beyond a
19 reasonable doubt. It has to be unanimous, and there's a whole
20 bunch of all that goes with all of that, and this is just a
21 questionnaire. We're not supposed to put the mechanism of the
22 death penalty instructions in this phase.

23 Ms. Luem:

24 I disagree, Judge. I think I can question her about the procedures
25 and whether or not –

26 The Court:

27 No, you can't. You can question her about whether or not she can
28 follow the law. That's what you can question her about. You can't
29 go in there and try and argue your case.

30 Ms. Luem:

31 I understand, but if she doesn't know what the law is, how can she
32 agree that she can follow it?

33 The Court:

34 Because of that, sustained.

1 You don't go around telling her what the Court is going to instruct
2 them on or what the law is. You ask them on or what the law is.
3 You ask them if they can follow the law; otherwise, if you're
4 going to put all the law in there and ask her if she can follow
5 every law that applies – that's ridiculous. AA, Vol. V, pp. 1272-
6 1274.

7 The purpose of "jury voir dire is to discover whether a juror will consider and
8 decide the facts impartially and conscientiously apply the law as charged by the
9 court." Witter v. State, 112 Nev. 908, 914, 921 P.2d 886, 891 (1996). The District
10 Court properly told defense counsel that they were allowed to ask the jurors if they
11 can follow the law and be impartial. Instructing the jurors during voir dire on what
12 exactly the law of the case will entail is improper. Therefore, as to this precise issue,
13 defense counsel was properly restricted during voir dire.

14 **VII**
15 **THE EVIDENCE INTRODUCED AT TRIAL ADEQUATELY PROVED**
16 **A CONSPIRACY EXISTED BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT**

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